FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
8/19/2020 3:26 PM

98922-2

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/20/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, NO. 53126-7-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILLIAM G. PARDEE and SHANNON D. PARDEE, husband and wife, *Petitioners*,

vs.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners William G. Pardee and Shannon D. Pardee (the Pardees) are plaintiffs in the underlying cause of action.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Pardees seek review of Division II of the Court of Appeals' (COA's) Unpublished Opinion in 53167-7-II, dated June 23, 2020 (Decision), and the COA's denial of motion for reconsideration of the same, dated July 20, 2020. Both decisions are attached as Appendix, Exs. A and B, respectively.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should the Pardees' petition be accepted because the COA's Decision conflicts with the principles of stare decisis and its own decision in *Galbraith*, decisions of other Courts of Appeals, and the Washington Supreme Court, that for there to be retaliation under RCW 49.60.210 does not require that the relationship between Shannon Pardee and the ESBC be either an employee-employer relationship or its functional equivalent.
- 2. Should the Pardees' petition be accepted because the COA's Decision erroneously concludes that the Regatta does not conflict with ESBC members' (including the Pardees') rights as tenants in common and the CCRs, contrary to extensive precedent in both the Courts of Appeals and the Washington Supreme Court?

- 3. Should the Pardees' petition be accepted because the COA's Decision erroneously concludes that the ESBC's Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions (CCRs) mantra that enforcement of the CCRs be by "proceedings at law or in equity" does not just mean civil actions in court, but short of that enforcement by the ESBC Board, contrary to extensive precedent in both the Courts of Appeals and the Washington Supreme Court?
- 4. Should the Pardees' petition be accepted because the COA's Decision erroneously concludes that statements by Respondents about the Pardees do not constitute defamation and defamation per se, contrary to extensive precedent in both the Courts of Appeals and the Washington Supreme Court?
- 5. Should the Pardees' petition be accepted because the COA's Decision erroneously concludes that the term "creed" in the WLAD, 49.60 RCW, is limited to religion and religious beliefs, contrary to precedent in the Courts of Appeals, the Washington Supreme Court, and RPC 8.4?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 20, 2018, the Pardees filed an initial complaint (CP 3-30) alleging various causes of action against the Evergreen Shores Beach Club (ESBC), their homeowner's association, various past and present members of the ESBC Board, and others associated with them, alleging,

among other things, causes of action under RCW 49.60 (the Washington Law Against Discrimination - "WLAD").

On August 7, 2018, the Pardees filed a Second Amended Complaint for Damages, Declaratory Relief, and Injunctive Relief (CP 32-43) alleging various causes of action against the ESBC, various past and present members of the ESBC Board, and others associated with them, for violation of RCW 49.60, including the ESBC and Respondents discriminating against the Pardees in its rental process, by removing Shannon Pardee from the ESBC Facebook site, by removing Shannon Pardee from the ESBC Board in retaliation for filing the lawsuit at issue; for defamation, defamation per se, and false light for statements by Defendants on social media, a notice of special meeting, and in false police reports; for declaratory relief, including damages for Respondents imposing unreasonable charges on the Pardees to obtain ESBC records, and concluding that the Respondents illegally attempted to amend the CCRs), illegally rented the ESBC park and recreation area to persons not members of the ESBC, refused to appoint an architectural planning committee required by the CCRs, and illegally created a CCR enforcement policy that is contrary to the CCRs; and for civil conspiracy.

On February 4, 2019, the trial court issued an ex parte Ruling on Summary Judgment (CP 581), wherein it stated:

The Court grants Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment filed December 14, 2018. Each of the separate, independent arguments presented by Defendants are legally correct and Plaintiffs have failed to present evidence warranting a trial on any of their claims under CR 56. While it is clear that Plaintiffs unfortunately have a difficult relationship with their neighbors, Plaintiffs have failed to prove that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to any of their remaining claims. Accordingly, Plaintiffs' claims are DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE. The prevailing party on this motion shall submit an Order consistent with this Ruling and CR 56(b) for entry by the Court. Trial and Pre-Trial Dates are Stricken.

On February 15, 2019, the trial court issued an Order Denying the Pardees' Motion for Reconsideration (CP 600) of the trial court's February 4, 2019, Ruling on Summary Judgment, and striking the hearing on the same scheduled for February 22, 2019. On February 22, 2019, the trial court entered ad Ex Parte Order Granting Respondents' Summary Judgment Motion (CP 705-707) stating, in relevant part:

[T]he Court having considered the motion, the argument of counsel, and all relevant records and pleadings on file. . . . Being fully advised of all relevant matters, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED as follows: Defendants' Summary Judgment Motion is hereby GRANTED pursuant to the Court's attached ruling on February 4, 2019, and this case is dismissed in its entirety with prejudice.

On March 22, 2019, the Pardees filed a Notice of Appeal to the COA (CP 709-715) with both the trial court and the COA, appealing the Ex Parte Order Granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment entered by the trial court on February 22, 2019.

On June 23, 2020, the COA issued an unpublished opinion (Decision) upholding the trial court's granting of the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment. The Pardees then submitted a timely Motion for Reconsideration of that Decision which the court denied on July 20, 2020, without explanation. Hence this Petition for Review.

V. ARGUMENT

1. Retaliation under the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD), RCW 49.60, Galbraith, and Stare Decisis Considerations

Review should be accepted because the COA's Decision conflicts with the principles of stare decisis and its own decision in *Galbraith*, decisions of other Courts of Appeals, and the Washington Supreme Court, that for there to be retaliation under RCW 49.60.210 does not require that the relationship between Shannon Pardee and the ESBC be either an employee-employer relationship or its functional equivalent.

At page 11 of its Decision, in response to the Pardees' claim of retaliation under RCW 49.60.210(1) because of Shannon Pardee's removal from the ESBC Board of Directors, the COA held:

The Pardees cannot satisfy the elements of a retaliation claim. The relationship between Shannon and the ESBC is neither an employee-employer relationship nor its functional equivalent. [FN 4] The court did not err in dismissing this claim.

[FN 4] This claim is not supported by *Galbraith v. TAPCO Credit Union*, 88 Wn. App. 939, 946 P.2d 1242 (1997). See

Malo v. Alaska Trawl Fisheries, Inc., 92 Wn. App. 927, 965 P.2d 1124 (1998). [Emphasis added.]

RCW 49.60.210(1) addresses the unfair practice of retaliation under the WLAD and when that occurs.¹ In *Sambasivan v. Kadlec Med. Ctr.*, 184 Wn. App. 567, 591, 338 P.3d 860 (2014), Division III of the Court of Appeals cited the COA's holding in *Galbraith v. TAPCO Credit Union*, 88 Wn. App. 939, 946 P.2d 1242 (1997).

Appellant in *Galbraith* was a member of TAPCO Credit Union, respondent, for several years. The respondent terminated appellant's membership for several reasons, including voluntarily assisting plaintiffs that had a pending Reduction in Force lawsuit against the respondent for discrimination under the WLAD. The court explained that the plain language of RCW 49.60.210 supports the conclusion that the WLAD is not

It is an unfair practice for any employer, employment agency, labor union, or other person to discharge, expel, or otherwise discriminate against any person because he or she has opposed any practices forbidden by this chapter, or because he or she has filed a charge, testified, or assisted in any proceeding under this chapter. [Emphasis added.]

RCW 49.60.040(19) defines "person" as:

[I]ncludes one or more individuals, partnerships, associations, organizations, corporations, cooperatives, legal representatives, trustees and receivers, or any group of persons; it includes any owner, lessee, proprietor, manager, agent, or employee, whether one or more natural persons; and further includes any political or civil subdivisions of the state and any agency or instrumentality of the state or of any political or civil subdivision thereof. [Emphasis added.]

¹ RCW 49.60.210 states:

limited to claims by employee against employer. *Galbraith*, 88 Wn. App. at 951. The court recognized that under RCW 49.60.210, "unfair practices" can be committed, not only by employers, but by any "other person" per the definition in RCW 49.60.040, since a credit union falls within the broad categories set forth in that definition. *Id.*² In *Galbraith*, after reviewing the language of RCW 49.60.210 and observing the strong public policy against discriminatory practices, the COA stated that appellant had an actionable claim against respondent (credit union) for retaliatory discrimination under the WLAD.

In *Galbraith* the court concluded that the trial court had improperly granted summary judgment in favor of respondent on appellant's retaliation claim under the WLAD

Like the appellant in *Galbraith*, the Pardees have provided evidence on social media (CP 444-452, 478) and in Respondent Nicholas Palmer's own correspondence (CP 443) proposing Shannon Pardee's removal from the ESBC Board, that shows at the very least that the Pardees bringing this lawsuit, which included WLAD claims, was a factor in Respondents

_

² In Certification From the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Washington in Zhu v. North Central Educational Service District-ESD 171, 189 Wn.2d 607, 404 P.3d 504, 510 (2017), this state's highest court cited Galbraith, and favorably referenced the COA's holding therein, stating: "[T]he Court of Appeals has held that it is an unfair practice for a credit union to expel a member because he assisted credit union employees in an antidiscrimination lawsuit, persuasively reasoning that a credit union is an 'other person' for purposes of RCW 49.60.210.") [Emphasis added.]

removing her from the Board. The lawsuit is front and center in the social media posts advocating for her removal. As in *Galbraith*, Pardees' retaliation claim under the WLAD was not ripe for summary judgment.³

In its Decision, the COA effectively overrules its own precedent in *Galbraith* and adopts the faulty reasoning and holding of Division I of the Court of Appeals in *Malo*. In doing so, the COA ignores and does not even refer to *Galbraith's* positive reception by Division III of the Court of Appeals in *Sambasivan* and the Washington Supreme Court in *Zhu v. North Central Educational Service District-ESD 171*, which are much more recent decisions than *Malo*. In effectively overruling its own precedent, the COA does not engage in the requisite analysis that indicates such an action so many years after *Galbraith* was published, and parties such as the Pardees

_

³ As the COA recognized in *Galbraith*, the WLAD defines the term "person", so there is no need for the court to resort to the common and ordinary meaning of that term in RCW 49.60.210(1) by using the rule of ejusdem generis, as Division I of the Court of Appeals did in Malo v. Alaska Trawl Fisheries, 92 Wn. App. 927, 965 P.2d 1124 (1998). In addition, even if we ignored the statutory definition of "person," and resorted to rules of statutory construction to construe the phrase "or other person" in RCW 49.60.210(1), contrary to the court's ruling in Malo, the rule of ejusdem generis is inapplicable. The courts have held that ejusdem generis is inapplicable to statutes where general words, such as "or otherwise" were intended to include something more than descriptive words. McMurray v. Second Bank of Lynnwood, 64 Wn.2d 708, 714, 393 P.2d 960 (1964) (construing the phrase "'through stock ownership, sale of assets' ... 'or otherwise'" in a statute) The statutory language "or other person" in RCW 49.60.210(1) is not akin to the traditional language in statutes where the rule of ejusdem generis can be conveniently applied to a catch-all phrase. See, e.g., RCW 82.08.935 (". . . single use items such as syringes, tubing, or catheters."); RCW 42.52.010(21)(a) ("'Transaction involving the state' means a proceeding, application, submission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, case, or other similar matter. . . .") The phrase "or other person" in RCW 49.60.210(1) is akin to "or otherwise."

have relied upon it, is ill conceived.

Stare decisis requires that a court not abandon precedent unless it is determined to be incorrect and harmful. *Rose v. Anderson Hay and Grain Co.*, 184 Wn.2d 268, 282, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015). In *Deggs v. Asbestos Corp. Ltd.*, 186 Wn.2d 716, 729, 381 P.3d 32 (2016), the court explained that respect for precedent is strongest in the area of statutory construction since the legislature is free to amend statutes to address interpretations it disagrees with. 186 Wn.2d at 730. *Galbraith* is controlling, must not be abandoned, and should be applied to the facts of this case.

Furthermore, the COA does not indicate at footnote 4 of its Decision any such rationale for overruling *Galbraith*, but simply cites to the *Malo* decision published by another court. At the very least, this oversight needs to be remedied, and it is necessary for the courts to directly address the doctrine of stare decisis and *Galbraith* under the framework above. Footnote 4 of the Decision does not accomplish this.

2. The Regatta and its conflict with ESBC members' (including the Pardees') rights as tenants in common and the CCRs

Review should be accepted because the COA's Decision erroneously concludes that the Regatta does not conflict with ESBC members' (including the Pardees') rights as tenants in common and the CCRs, contrary to extensive precedent in both the Courts of Appeals and

the Washington Supreme Court.

In both January 31, 2018, e-mail correspondence defendant Nicholas Palmer sent to his fellow Board members (CP 393) concerning the Regatta, where he explains that it is the one exception to the so-called "no events" policy for the ESBC park and recreation area, and February 5, 2018, e-mail correspondence to then-ESBC Board member Brianna Manolopoulos (CP 395), Palmer readily admits that the Regatta results in the ESBC's park and recreation area (Tract B) being shut down and limits ESBC members from using the park and recreation area, except for the community pool.

Although the Decision, at pages 4-5, describes how Regatta participants and guests "park mobile homes and set up tents in the park to stay overnight," and "[f]ood vendors and bleachers are set up," it does not take into account that the mobile homes cover the community basketball court and *all* the grass in the park and recreation area, and that the Regatta has exclusive use of the community dock and boat launch, which the ESBC members pay to maintain but cannot use during the Regatta. The Regatta violates ESBC members' rights as tenants in common and the CCRs, regardless of whether as the court points out in its Decision at pages 4-5, one set of bleachers at the Regatta "is reserved exclusively for [ESBC] members, who get free admission to the event."

As the court explains in *Butler v. Craft Eng Construction, Inc.*, 67 Wn. App. 684, 695-696, 843 P.2d 1071 (1992), each cotenant in a tenancy in common has certain rights the other cotenants cannot infringe upon, namely the right to the possession, use and enjoyment of the *whole* of the property. See also *Herring v. Pelayo*, 198 Wn. App. 828, 837, 397 P.3d 125 (2017).

Setting up bleachers and inviting ESBC members to attend the Regatta free of charge, or granting ESBC member access to a portion of the park and recreation area (Tract B) during the Regatta, does not excuse the fact that the Regatta infringes on those members' co-equal rights to the possession, use, and enjoyment of the *whole* park and recreation area (Tract B). As such, contrary to the COA's statement in their Decision at page 18, the Pardees' rights as cotenants in common have been interfered with.⁴

Paragraph 20 of the CCRs (CP 285), which the court sets forth at page 3 of its Decision, states in relevant part that the ESBC park and recreation area (Tract B) "will be accessible to [all divisions], and will be *jointly used by the owners of the lots* in all divisions of EVERGREEN

⁴ During the Regatta, ESBC members cannot access the large grass area of the park, the basketball court which is covered with mobile homes, the playground equipment which is surrounded by and subject to odors from running mobile homes, or the dock or boat launch to fish or recreate. Furthermore, the CCRs clearly state that the park and area (Tract B) is to be jointly used by only ESBC members (i.e., owners of lots).

SHORES...." (Emphasis added).⁵

Paragraph 20 of the CCRs clearly states that the ESBC park and recreation area is to be jointly used by ESBC members. The only reasonable interpretation of that covenant, which protects the homeowner's collective interests, is that events such as the Regatta, which would interfere with the ESBC members' use and enjoyment of the whole park and recreation area, are not allowed. To state otherwise, and permit the ESBC Board to rent out the park to events like the Regatta, would defeat the whole purpose of a

⁵ The primary goal in interpreting covenants that run with the land is to determine the intent or purpose of the covenants. Day v. Santorsola, 118 Wn. App. 746, 756, 76 P.3d 1190 (2003); Wimberly v. Caravello, 136 Wn. App. 327, 336, 149 P.3d 402 (2006)("[O]ur primary task is to determine the intent of the drafters.")(Brackets added). The courts apply basic rules of contract interpretation. Wimberly, 136 Wn. App. at 336. The courts interpret restrictive covenants to give effect to the intention of the parties to the agreement incorporating the covenants and to carry out the purpose for which the covenants were created. Pritchett v. Picnic Point Homeowners Ass'n, 2 Wn. App.2d 872, 879, 413 P.3d 604 (2018)(citing Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d 612, 621, 934 P.2d 669 (1997)). The purpose of those establishing the covenants is the relevant intent. Id. at 879-880. The value of maintaining the character of the neighborhood in which the burdened land is located is a value shared by the owners of the other properties burdened by the same covenants. Id. at 880 (citations omitted). Accordingly, we must place "special emphasis on arriving at an interpretation that protects the homeowners' collective interests." *Id.* (citations omitted). "If more than one reasonable interpretation of the covenants is possible regarding an issue, we must favor the interpretation which avoids frustrating the reasonable expectations of those affected by the covenants' provisions." Id. (citations omitted). In determining the intent of the parties to the agreement incorporating the covenants, we give "covenant language 'its ordinary and common use' and will not construe a term in such a way 'so as to defeat its plain and obvious meaning." Id. (citations omitted); Mains Farm Homeowners Ass'n v. Worthington, 121 Wn.2d 810, 815, 854 P.2d 1072 (1993)(citations omitted); Mt. Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Tydings, 125 Wn.2d 337, 344, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994)("A court must construe restrictive covenants by discerning the intent of the parties as evidenced by the clear and unambiguous language in the document.") (Citations omitted). We examine the instrument in its entirety and use extrinsic evidence to "illuminate what was written, not what was intended to be written." Pritchett, 2 Wn. App.2d at 880. (citations omitted). "[T]he intent of the homeowners who voted to adopt the covenants cannot be discerned through the post-hoc statements of individual board members." Pritchett, 2 Wn.App.2d at 885 (brackets added).

having a park that members can enjoy, and would pave the way for use of the park and its waterfront facilities (dock and boat launch) by other than ESBC members.

3. Enforcement of the CCRs

Review should be accepted because the COA's Decision erroneously concludes that the CCRs mantra that enforcement of the CCRs be by "proceedings at law or in equity" does not just mean civil actions in court, but short of that enforcement by the ESBC Board, contrary to extensive precedent in both the Courts of Appeals and the Washington Supreme Court.

At page 19 of its Decision, the COA states that it disagrees with the Pardees' argument that the ESBC is prohibited from adopting or using the enforcement policy because the CCRs require enforcement through judicial proceeding only. Although the COA notes in its Decision at page 20 that the CCRs provide that "[e]nforcement *shall* be by proceedings at law or in equity against any person or persons violating or attempting to violate any covenants either to restrain violation or to recover damages," [emphasis added] the COA cites *State ex rel. Royal v. Bd. Of Yakima County Comm'rs*, 123 Wn.2d 451, 458, 869 P.2d 56 (1994) for the notion that word "shall" in the CCR provision above broadens what is enforcement under that same provision, stating: "Shall' is interpreted as directory, rather than

mandatory, when a literal meaning would frustrate the legislative intent."

The COA springboards from this and states at page 20 of the Decision that "[a]n interpretation of 'shall' as mandatory or, in this case, the exclusive method of enforcement would frustrate the intent of the covenants." (citing *Royal*). Although the COA acknowledges at page 19 of the Decision that it is addressing "the Board's authority to adopt the [enforcement] policy" under the CCRs, at page 21 of the Decision it cites to the ESBC Board's rationale behind that policy as support for its reading of the same CCRs, including the ESBC Board's present day determination that "correcting compliance issues at the lowest possible level in in the best interests of the [ESBC] because it reduces the amount of administrative time necessary to deal with infractions, lessens the duration of fractions, and may save in legal expense. It also promotes a harmonious living environment."

Proceedings at law or in equity to impose damages for violation of the CCRs, or to restrain violations of the same per the CCRs, equate to

⁶ By interpreting the term "shall" in the CCRs above expansively, to permit enforcement of the CCRs by other than proceedings at law or in equity, the COA is ignoring the plain and obvious meaning of the language therein. In determining the intent of the parties to the agreement incorporating the covenants, we give "covenant language 'its ordinary and common use' and will not construe a term in such a way 'so as to defeat its plain and obvious meaning." *Pritchett*, 2 Wn. App.2d at 880 (citations omitted); *Mains Farm Homeowners Ass'n v. Worthington*, 121 Wn.2d 810, 815, 854 P.2d 1072 (1993)(citations omitted); *Mt. Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Tydings*, 125 Wn.2d 337, 344, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994)("A court must construe restrictive covenants by discerning the intent of the parties as evidenced by the clear and unambiguous language in the document.") (Citations omitted). We examine the instrument in its entirety and use extrinsic evidence to "illuminate what was written, not what was intended to be written." *Pritchett*, 2 Wn. App.2d at 880. (citations omitted).

actions in court, and the alternative remedies of either requesting an injunction to restrain a violation (in equity) or seek damages (at law).

BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, 1241 (8th ed.) defines "proceeding" as:

"1. The regular or orderly progression of a lawsuit, including all acts and events between the time of commencement and the entry of judgment."

BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019), defines "suit" as:

Any proceeding by a party or parties against another in a court of law ... Also termed ... suit at law.

* * *

Today, since virtually all jurisdictions have merged the administration of law and equity, the terms action and suit are interchangeable.

* * *

suit at law. . . . A suit conducted according to the common law or equity, as distinguished from statutory provisions Under the current rules of practice in federal and most state courts, the term civil action embraces an action both at law and in equity. Fed. R. Civ. P. 2.⁷

In Saunders v. Meyers, 175 Wn. App. 427, 306 P.3d 978 (2013), the court addressed a provision of the CCRs that stated that where a party

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