FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/18/2020 2:41 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 9/18/2020 2:17 PM

SUPREME COURT NO. 98922-2

(Court of Appeals No. 53126-7-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILLIAM G. PARDEE and SHANNON D. PARDEE husband and wife,

Appellants/Petitioners,

v.

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Pardees' Petition for Review Does Not Meet the Criteria Set Forth by the Rules Governing Acceptance of Review and Should be Denied

The Rules of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") allow a petition for review to be accepted by the Supreme Court *only* if one of the following criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) is met:

- The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;
- The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals;
- 3) A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved¹; or
- 4) The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

As set forth in more detail below, since none of the above criteria is met by the Pardees, the Supreme Court must deny review.

¹ This factor need not be discussed as it is undisputed that it does not apply here.

1. The Court of Appeals' Decision Affirming Dismissal of the Pardees' Discrimination and Retaliation Claims under the WLAD is Not in Conflict with Any Court of Appeals or Supreme Court Case

The Court of Appeals' ruling is entirely consistent with the theme in *Galbraith*, both with respect to its upholding of the purpose of the WLAD as established in that case, and in finding that the Pardees' failed to make the requisite showing of the elements to defeat summary judgment of their discrimination and retaliation claims.

In *Galbraith v. TAPCO Credit Union*, 88 Wn. App. 939, 946-52, 946 P.2d 1242 (Div. 2) (1997), a case concerning a credit unions decision to terminate a member's membership, the Court stated that the "WLAD is not limited to employment discrimination but rather guarantees the right to be free of discrimination in non-employment settings as well." *Id.* The Court, however, avoided using "employment" language by stating that, to defeat summary judgement, the plaintiff had to show that "(1) he opposed practices prohibited under WLAD or assisted with an anti-discrimination proceeding brought under WLAD; and (2) retaliation for this protected activity was a substantial factor behind [the credit union's] decision to expel him." *Id.*

The Court of Appeals also acknowledged another retaliation case that followed the *Galbraith* decision in Division I, where the Court

concluded that the plaintiff, a captain of a trawler, could not sue his cocaptain for his part in refusing to rehire the plaintiff because the co-captain was not an employer. *Malo v. Alaska Trawl Fisheries, Inc.*, 92 Wn. App. 927, 930, 965 P.2d 1124 (Div. 1) (1998). Here, the ESBC has maintained, and continues to take the position, that *Malo* is the controlling precedent as it is the most recent and factually analogous decision to the instant case.

The Pardees disagree and contend that *Galbraith* should be applied to the facts at issue in this case. In their Petition for Review, the Pardees assume, without explanation, that the Court of Appeals "effectively overrule[d]" Galbraith in affirming the trial court's dismissal of the WLAD claims. The Pardees' main argument is that, since other post-Malo cases support the holding in Galbraith, the Court of Appeals' decision was contrary to precedent. To support this argument that the Court of Appeals somehow ignored precedent with respect to the Courts' reception of Galbraith, the Pardees cite to Sambasivan v. Kadlec Med. Ctr., 184 Wn. App. 567, 590, 338 P.3d 860, 872 (2014) and Zhu v. North Central Ed. Serv. Dist. – ESD 171, 189 Wash.2d 607, 404 P.3d 504 (2017). However, the Pardees fail to argue anywhere in their briefing that there is any genuine issue of material fact as to the WLAD claims justifying reversal of the decision even if the Court of Appeals applied Galbraith to the set of facts in this case. The Pardees further fail to acknowledge the Court of Appeals'

holding that the Pardees could not satisfy the elements of their claims for discrimination and retaliation under the WLAD, or point to any set of facts on the record that show a genuine issue of material fact as to the elements of the WLAD claim.²

Even if the Pardees were able to show that the Board is functionally similar to an employer (which they have not), they cannot and have not provided any evidence that Mrs. Pardee was retaliated against for engaging in a protected activity or that the protected activity was a substantial factor behind the Board's decision to remove her from office.³ The Board, even if it was considered a functional employer under *Gailbraith*, did not vote Mrs. Pardee off of the Board. The 300 members of the community voted to remove Mrs. Pardee from her Board position due to a plethora of legitimate

² In their Petition for Review, the Pardees claim they have provided evidence that, at a minimum, shows the lawsuit was a "factor" in the Respondent's decision to remove Mrs. Pardee from the Board. However, the Pardees fail to dispute the existence of the multitude of other facts on the record that were clearly of consequence on this issue. *See Respondent's Answering Brief to the Court of Appeals, Division II.* Regardless, none of the evidence in this case, even construed in the light most favorable to the Pardees, presents a genuine issue of material fact.

³ The Pardees similarly appeal the Court of Appeals' treatment of the word "creed" as used in the WLAD; however, the Pardees fail to cite any authority form the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court that is in conflict with the treatment of that word. Instead, the Pardees actually provide this Court with a different definition of "creed" consistent of the Court of Appeals' use of that term, and fail to make any sort of connection as to how their preferred definition of the word "creed", not only is in conflict with precedent, but how it creates a genuine issue of material fact that would otherwise warrant a reversal of dismissal of the discrimination claim.

nondiscriminatory reasons including, but not limited to, Mrs. Pardee's disagreements with Board members and her disruptive activities, which long-preceded the filing of the subject lawsuit.

Notably, in its Petition for Review, the Pardees do not allege or cite to any Supreme Court decision that *actually* conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the dismissal of the WLAD claims - because none exist. Instead, the Pardees rely on innuendo and presumption to argue points that even if taken as true, still do not warrant reversal of the Court of Appeals' decision.

Thus, for all these reasons, this Court should affirm the Court of Appeal's holding and reject the Pardees' Petition for Review on this issue.

2. The Court of Appeals' Decision Affirming Dismissal of the Pardees' Claims Regarding Violation of the ESBC's Governing Documents is Not in Conflict with Any Court of Appeals or Supreme Court Case

The Pardees similarly disagree with the Court of Appeal's dismissal of their claims related to alleged violations of the ESBC's governing documents, such as the CCRs, in relation to the Black Lake Regatta's use of the park, as well as with respect to the intent of the language "proceeding in law and equity." Like the issues surrounding the WLAD, the Pardees do not cite to any Court of Appeals or Supreme Court case that **is in conflict with** the Court of Appeals' decision, as is required under RAP 13.4(b)(1)

and (2). Again, the Pardees simply reiterate arguments rejected by both the trial court and the Court of Appeals **twice**, respectively. In addition to failing to meet the standard of RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), the Pardees do not present any genuine issue of material fact as to whether the Regatta violates the CCRs.

Similarly, the Pardees do not present any genuine issue of material fact as to their assertion that the provision of the governing documents indicating that enforcement shall be by "proceeding at law or in equity" equates to legal proceedings in a court of law. The plain meaning of the quoted language is inapposite to the Pardees' assertion. The word "or" comes before "in equity" meaning that in equity is clearly meant to have a different meaning (which it literally does) than "at law". A proceeding in equity can (and here it does) mean a proceeding of any kind seeking a fair outcome. Here, the alleged action in violation of this provision was the creation of a Fine and Fee schedule for violations of the CCRs by the ESBC homeowners. That schedule was created by the Board for the purpose of equitably enforcing minor violations of CCRs without incurring the costs of litigation over minor offenses. Any dispute regarding the terms of that policy could be brought to the attention of the Board or, if necessary, litigated. Notwithstanding, the initial creation of the policy is clearly allowed by the plain language of the CCRs and does not violate governing

documents in any way. The trial court made this same determination, and so did the Court of Appeals. There is not a case in existence that contradicts the Court of Appeals' decision on this issue and, therefore, the Pardees' Petition on the issue of violating the governing documents should be denied.

3. The Court of Appeals' Decision Affirming Dismissal of the Pardees' Defamation and Defamation per se Claims is Not in Conflict with Any Court of Appeals or Supreme Court Case

At the trial court level, the ESBC carefully analyzed each of the statements that formed the basis of the Pardees' defamation claims and established in support of its MSJ that all of the statements were either substantially true or were personal opinion and were, therefore, not defamatory.

The Court of Appeals similarly reviewed these statements that formed the bases of the Pardees' defamation and defamation *per se* claims, and also determined they were opinions, substantially true, or not shown to be provably false. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the Pardees did not meet their burden to submit evidence of either the falsehood of the statements or that the speakers were negligent in making them. Also, the Pardees were unable to support their assertion with any admissible evidence that would create a genuine issue of material fact, or meet their

burden of establishing a prima facie case for defamation or defamation *per* se.

The Pardees simply reiterate the same position that the statements are false, without meeting the burden. Notably, the Pardees never argue in their Petition for Review that they met their burden in proving the falsehood of the statements. In the case of their defamation *per se* claims, the Pardees also fail to support any of their assertions with admissible evidence. Instead, the Pardees make a blanket assertion that the statements made against them to the police were defamatory *per se* because of their criminal nature, without proving negligence. This simply makes no sense, as it would mean that any report of a crime of moral turpitude would be defamation, regardless of whether that statement was actually made or not.

Given the Pardees' failure to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the dismissal of their defamation and defamation *per se* claims is in conflict with any decision from the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court, their Petition for Review must be denied.

4. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Good Policy; Granting the Petition for Review Advocates Bad Policy and is Inconsistent with RAP 13.4(b)(4) Requiring Review of Only Issues of Substantial Public Import

The lawsuit resulting in this appeal is simply a dispute amongst neighbors taken too far. When the Pardees did not get their way, they could

not reconcile that reasonable people could possibly disagree with them and instead chose to make everybody's life incredibly difficult. When the Respondents did not bend to the will and outbursts of the Pardees, they instigated litigation using theories of law designed to protect vulnerable members of our society. The pettiness of the claims was evident from the beginning, and the trial court recognized as much when it granted the Respondents' MSJ.

If the Petition for Review were granted, it would encourage a litany of litigation that does not further the law's protection of the vulnerable members of society, but instead provide certain individuals with an avenue to circumvent the laws that were created to prevent such discrimination in favor of a class of people for which the laws are not meant to protect. There would be no benefit to the public, substantial or otherwise, in granting review to the Pardees (nor is one alleged by the Pardees at all in any of its briefing, as is required under RAP 13.4(b)(4)). Thus, review should be denied.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny review.

///

///

///

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 18th day of September, 2020.

BETTS, PATTERSON & MINES, P.S.

By /s Luisa E. Taddeo

Shawna M. Lydon, WSBA #34238 Luisa E. Taddeo, WSBA #48677 Betts Patterson & Mines One Convention Place, Suite 1400 701 Pike Street Seattle WA 98101-3927

Telephone: (206) 292-9988 Facsimile: (206) 343-7053 Attorneys for Respondent